STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Fairfield County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

**May 20 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRYL EUGENE COLEMAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000936  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in excluding a witness's conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, when the probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?
  
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the charge based on an over ten-year delay between arrest and trial resulting in a violation of Appellant's constitutional right to a speedy trial?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In March of 2009, the Fairfield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Darryl Eugene Coleman, for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree, indictment # 2009-GS-20-085. (R. p. 327). The indictment reflects that the alleged incident took place on December 15, 2008, and Appellant was arrested on December 30, 2008. (R. p. 327). The State did not call the case to trial until May of 2019. On May 20, 2019, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Lawton McIntosh. Hemphill Pride represented Appellant. Julie Hall prosecuted the case. The jury returned with a verdict of guilty. Judge Lawton sentenced Appellant to twelve years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on May 29, 2019. This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial [court's] discretion, provided the [trial court] conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006).

The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is also reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 794 S.E.2d 368 (2016).

## ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in excluding a witness's conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, when the probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.**

In December of 2008, the witness reported that Appellant called looking for her cousin Catherine. (R. p. 77, lines 15-17). When the witness told Appellant that Catherine was not there, the witness claimed that Appellant invited her to go fishing. (R. p. 77, lines 17-24). The witness reported that she left the house, got in the car with Appellant and they drove to the Debutary [sic] where they met Stupu and Jessica. (R. p. 77, line 24 – p. 78, lines 1-9). At trial, however, the witness testified that she went to Appellant's house with her cousin Catherine and Catherine's boyfriend, Hoover. (R. p. 37, line 8 – p. 38, lines 1-15). According to the witness, her cousin and her cousin's boyfriend left her at Appellant's house where Appellant pushed her backwards on the bed and had intercourse with her. (R. p. 47, line 8, p. 48-51, lines 1-10). In 2008, the witness was fourteen years old and Appellant was thirty-seven years old. (R. p. 109, line 1 – p. 110, lines 1-8). Appellant was arrested on December 30, 2008. (R. p. 327).

At trial over ten years later Appellant denied having sex with the witness. (R. pp. 220-221). Appellant testified that the witness tried to perform oral sex. (R. pp. 230-232). Appellant also testified that the witness helped him ejaculate. (R. p. 221, lines 7-19). Appellant's DNA standard was not submitted to SLED until January 10, 2019. (R. p. 181, lines 24-25; p. 184, lines 18-19). SLED compared Appellant's DNA standard to a semen sample obtained from the witness's pants in 2008, and tested by SLED in 2010. (R. p. 176, lines 12-21; p. 182, lines 13-18). The DNA witness from SLED testified that the semen from the pants matched Appellant. (R. p. 182, lines 20-24).

During the direct examination of the witness, Appellant, outside of the presence of the jury, moved to impeach the witness with a recent conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. (R. p. 33, line 6-21; p. 41, line 3 – p. 42, lines 1-3). At the time of her testimony at trial she was still on probation for the charge. (R. p. 42, lines 2-6). Counsel for Appellant also argued, “And I think that to not allow me to go into her past criminal record takes the argument away from me in closing, ‘Can you really rely on somebody that uses drugs and her memory and her accuracy?’ You take that away from me if you don’t allow me to present that. Thank you, Judge.” (R. p. 44, line 24 – p. 45, lines 1-4). The State opposed admission of the conviction. (R. p. 43, line 17 – p. 44, lines 1-13). The judge excluded the prior conviction stating:

First this alleged event took place 11 years ago, we’ve been over that all morning long, and this conviction was – that was in 2009. It’s alleged – well, not alleged because she pled to it, was 2017. I mean, that ‘s a long period of time. I don’t see that it has any impeachment value quite frankly, Mr. Pride, other than to say, “You are not a good person. You’re not a good person.” I don’t believe that just because somebody had that charge it calls into question whether their memory has been affected, whether they have any kind of lack of the ability to recall things that happened 11 years ago. She hadn’t picked up any of the charges from what I hear or from what I can tell from what ya’ll are saying, so the impeachment value is very low in this case. I think that credibility on the other hand to everybody in this case, because it’s going to be a she said/he said type of case if it’s like other ones I’ve had in the past, right now I don’t have anything before me because we hadn’t gotten out of the gate yet. But it seems to me that credibility is going to be a big part of this case and so that is a huge factor. And then to allow this crime that has no relevance or correlation back to an alleged criminal sexual conduct event that happened 11 years ago, I think, falls squarely under 403, that the probative value is greatly outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice to the witness and to the State and therefore I’m not going to allow it in. And I note your objection for the record, please.

(R. p. 45, line 14 – p.46, lines 1-15). The trial judge erred.

Rule 609(a)(1) provides:

**(a) General Rule.** For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,

(1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; . . .

In State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 593, 828 S.E.2d 203, 210 (2019), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

Rule 609(a) invokes three impeachment scenarios. First, under Rule 609(a)(1), evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year (in the jurisdiction where the conviction occurred) is admissible, subject to Rule 403, SCRE. Under Rule 403, evidence of such a conviction “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” The Rule 403 test places the burden upon the opponent of the evidence to establish inadmissibility pursuant to Rule 403.

The other two impeachment scenarios discussed in Robinson are not applicable in the present case as those scenarios involve the accused, rather than a witness, having a prior conviction, which Appellant did not, or a prior crime involving dishonesty or a false statement, which possession with intent to distribute cocaine base does not. The Court in Robinson summarized writing, “[U]nder Rule 609(a)(1), if the witness is someone other than the accused and has a prior conviction of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year, the trial court must balance the Colf factors and determine whether, under Rule 403, the probative value of the conviction is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and/or other relevant considerations set forth in Rule 403. The burden of establishing inadmissibility of the conviction is upon the opponent of the evidence; . . .” 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211. The Colf factors include: 1) The impeachment value of the prior crime; 2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; 3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; 4) The importance of the defendant's testimony; and 5) The centrality of the

credibility issue. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000). In the present case the State failed to establish that the witness's prior conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base was inadmissible.

The trial judge in the present case did not properly balance the Colf factors. First, the trial judge found the impeachment value of witness's prior conviction was "very low." (R. p. 46, lines 1-2). As the Court noted in Robinson, however, "Although prior convictions for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession are not crimes of dishonesty or false statement, which would result in automatic admissibility under Rule 609(a)(2), such convictions may still have impeachment value under Rule 609(a)(1)." 426 S.C. at 599, 828 S.E.2d at 213. The prior conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base implies that the witness might not be credible.

As for the second Colf factor, point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history, in this case the witness was convicted **after** she made the allegation against Appellant. While a long period elapsed between the accusation in 2008 and the witness's conviction in 2017, this factor does not tip the balance in favor of exclusion. The probative value is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. As to the third Colf factor, there is no similarity between possession of cocaine base and criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree. Arguably the fourth Colf is inapplicable in the present case because the impeachment is of a witness rather than the defendant.

As to the fifth Colf factor, credibility, the trial judge acknowledged that credibility was a "huge factor" in the case stating, "I think that credibility on the other hand to everybody in this case, because it's going to be a she said/he said type of case if it's like other ones I've had in the past, right now I don't have anything before me because we hadn't gotten out of the gate yet.

But it seems to me that credibility is going to be a big part of this case and so that is a huge factor.” (R. p. 46, lines 2-8). The trial judge, however, found that the credibility factor weighed in favor of exclusion. The trial judge erred. As the Court noted in Robinson, “. . . [W]hen credibility is central to a case, the introduction of prior convictions for impeachment purposes becomes even more legitimate.” 426 S.C. at 606, 828 S.E.2d at 217. The credibility factor in the present case weighs in favor of admissibility. Properly weighing all of the Colf factors, the witness’s prior conviction should have been admitted for impeachment pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1). The trial judge abused his discretion by not properly weighing the Colf factors. The error is not harmless.

**2. The trial judge erred by considering the fact that there was an alleged victim in refusing to dismiss the charge based on an over ten-year delay between arrest and trial resulting in a violation of Appellant’s constitutional right to a speedy trial.**

Appellant was arrested on December 30, 2008. (R. p. 327). The State did not call the case for trial until May 20, 2019. Prior to trial Appellant raised the speedy trial issue. (R. pp. 8-25). The State argued that Appellant did not raise the speedy trial issue until November 1, 2018. (R. p. 23, lines 12-14). The judge took the matter under advisement and proceeded with trial. (R. p. 12, line 21). At the close of the State’s case the judge denied both the directed verdict motion and the speedy trial motion. (R. p. 198, line 11 – p. 199, lines 1-22). In denying the speedy trial motion the judge stated:

As to your motion for speedy trial, I think that you -- that's a lot closer call quite frankly, but I'm going to deny it as well. The length is totally unreasonable, 11 years. There's not been assigned a reason for that delay, so the State loses on two of the four issues. At the same time we didn't have the defendant assert his right to a speedy trial until last year, and so after he did assert that right the trial was scheduled. And there's been no real evidence -- there's been no evidence of

prejudice to him caused by the delay. In fact, I made a note in my notes during the course of this trial that you had made the discussion that witness' memories would fade and they would not be able to remember things as well as they could have earlier, and therefore that's going to be a problem. But most of the things I heard were their memory -- lack of memory was collateral issues, not issues that are made facts to be established in this case. I'm still going to deny your motion because you hadn't established a prejudice here to my satisfaction, I don't think there is. And I could take note of the fact that we have a victim involved in this case, we have a victim involved in this case, and she has her on own constitutional rights as well. And I don't think under the facts of this case that as a defendant you have one right to make – you don't have the right -- under the facts of this case I think the jury just makes a call whether or not he is guilty or innocent. I'm not saying he's guilty, I am saying they make the call by the jury.

(R. p. 198, line 20 – p. 199, lines 1-22). Appellant renewed the speedy trial motion at the close of the case and the judge again denied the motion. (R. p. 241, lines 5-19). The judge then discussed jury instructions and the State requested a jury charge on lewd act, arguing it was a lesser included offense. (R. p. 242, lines 19 – p. 243, 244, lines 1-5). Counsel for Appellant objected to the charge on constitutional grounds. (R. p. 245, lines 9 –19). Counsel did not object on the ground that lewd act was not a lesser included offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree.<sup>1</sup> The trial judge overruled the objection and charged the jury with the law on the offense of lewd act on a minor.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 245, line 20 – p. 246, lines 1-10; p. 291, line 11 – p. 292, lines 1-4). Over ten years after arrest a jury found Appellant guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree.

In State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2016), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, ‘In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.’ U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides that “Any

---

<sup>1</sup> See State v. Brock, 335 S.C. 267, 516 S.E.2d 212 (Ct.App. 1999); Campbell v. State, 342 S.C. 100, 535 S.E.2d 928 (2000).

<sup>2</sup> There was no objection to the jury instruction as given (R. p. 294, lines 18-22). The jury sent the judge a note stating that they were deadlocked between second degree and lewd act (R. p. 313, line 11).

person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)). In Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 374–75, 89 S. Ct. 575, 575, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969), the United States Supreme Court wrote, “In Klopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 87 S.Ct. 988, 18 L.Ed.2d 1, this Court held that, by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial is enforceable against the States as ‘one of the most basic rights preserved by our Constitution.’ *Id.*, at 226, 87 S.Ct. at 995.” The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted).

In State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution guarantees that “[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused's defense. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 107, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978).

The speedy trial right “is designed to minimize the possibility of lengthy incarceration prior to trial, to reduce the lesser, nevertheless substantial impairment of liberty imposed on an accused while released on bail, and to shorten the disruption of life caused by arrest and the presence of unresolved criminal charges.” United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982); State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007).

In determining whether a defendant has been deprived of the right to a speedy trial, the court considers four factors: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of the right; and, (4) prejudice to the defendant. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed 2d 101 (1972). The trial judge in the present case stated, "And I could take note of the fact that we have a victim involved in this case, we have a victim involved in this case, and she has her own constitutional rights as well. And I don't think under the facts of this case that as a defendant you have one right to make -- you don't have the right -- under the facts of this case I think the jury just makes a call whether or not he is guilty or innocent. I'm not saying he's guilty, I am saying they make the call by the jury." (R. p. 199, lines 14-22). The trial judge erred in considering the fact that an alleged victim was involved in deciding the speedy trial issue. Properly balancing the four Barker v. Wingo factors, the trial judge should have dismissed the charge based on the violation of Appellant's right to a speedy trial.

Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is arbitrary and unreasonable. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). In a footnote in Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992), the Court wrote, "Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found post accusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year." Doggett Fn. 1

In Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) the Court wrote:

We begin our analysis with the "triggering mechanism" of a speedy trial claim, which is the length of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182. We should not even examine the remaining factors "[u]ntil there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial." Id. The clock starts running on a defendant's speedy trial right when he is "indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused,"

and therefore we are to include the time between arrest and indictment. United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982).

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