STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**

**May 04 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Fairfield County  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000936

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DARRYL EUGENE COLEMAN,

---

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

104 N. Main Street  
Lancaster, SC 29720  
(803)-416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by excluding Victim's 2017 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine when the trial judge properly weighed the State v. Colf factors and determined the probative value of the prior conviction was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Even if the trial judge erred in excluding Victim's prior conviction, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against Appellant.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in prohibiting Appellant from impeaching Victim with a 2017 conviction under Rule 609(a)(1) SCRE. Specifically, Appellant argues the trial judge did not properly balance the State v. Colf<sup>1</sup> factors when declining to allow Appellant to impeach Victim with evidence of a conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine that occurred nine years after Appellant sexually assaulted Victim. Appellant's argument is meritless. The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in excluding evidence of Victim's 2017 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine because the trial judge properly weighed the State v. Colf factors and determined the probative value of a conviction that occurred nine years after the crime for which Appellant was on trial was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. However, even if the trial judge erred in excluding Victim's 2017 conviction, any error was entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against Appellant.

Rule 609(a)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that when a party attacks the credibility of a witness, "Evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted." Rule 609(a)(1) SCRE. Rule 609(b) states that evidence of a conviction under this rule is not

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000)

admissible if a period of more than ten years has passed from the date of the conviction or the witnesses' release from confinement as a result of that conviction. Rule 609(b) SCRE. However, a court may, in the interest of justice, admit a conviction older than ten years if the court determines the probative value of the conviction substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. Rule 609(b) SCRE.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has enumerated five factors that our state's trial judges must consider in determining the admissibility of a witness's prior conviction. The five factors are: (1). The impeachment value of the prior crime; (2). The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3). The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4). The importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5). The centrality of the credibility issue. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000). "These factors are not exclusive; trial courts should exercise their discretion in light of the facts and circumstances of each particular case." Id. If the witness is someone other than the accused and has a prior conviction of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year, "the trial court must balance the Colf factors and determine whether, under Rule 403, the probative value of the conviction is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and/or other relevant considerations set forth in Rule 403." State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 595, 828 S.E.2d 203, 211 (2019). "The burden of establishing inadmissibility of the conviction is upon the opponent of the evidence." Id.

Here, Appellant sought to impeach Victim with evidence of a 2017 conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine. (R. 42-44). Victim was not the accused; therefore, the trial judge properly balanced the Colf factors and employed an analysis of the probative

value and prejudicial effect of the conviction under Rule 403 SCRE. The trial judge made the following ruling:

The Court: First this alleged event took place 11 years ago, we've been over that all morning long, and this conviction was – that was in 2009. It's alleged – well, not alleged because she pled to it, was in 2017. I mean, that's a long period of time. I don't see that it has any impeachment value quite frankly, Mr. Pride, other than to say, "You are not a good person. You're not a good person." I don't believe that just because somebody had that charge it calls into question whether their memory has been affected, whether they have any kind of lack of the ability to recall things that happened 11 years ago. She hadn't picked up any of the charges from what I hear or from what I can tell from what y'all are saying, so the impeachment value is very low in this case. I think that credibility on the other hand to everybody in this case, because it's going to be a she said/he said type of case it it's like other ones I've had in the past, right now I don't have anything before me because we hadn't got out of the gate yet. But it seems to me that credibility is going to be a big part of this case and so that is a huge factor. And then to allow this crime that has no relevance or correlation back to an alleged criminal sexual conduct event that happened 11 years ago, I think, falls squarely under 403, that the probative value is greatly outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice to the witness and to the State and therefore I'm not going to allow it in.

(R. 45, line 14—R. 46, line 14).

In the preceding ruling, the trial judge properly balanced the Colf factors and conducted a Rule 403 analysis. In making his ruling, the trial judge began with the first Colf factor: the impeachment value of the prior crime. The trial judge appropriately found Victim's subsequent conviction didn't have "any impeachment value" other than to suggest that Victim was not a good person. (R. 45, lines 18-20). Contrary to Appellant's assertion, a conviction that occurred nine years after the crime Victim accused Appellant of committing has no bearing on whether Victim was telling the truth when she accused Appellant of having sex with her in 2008. Victim had no criminal record as of the date of the offense in 2008. Therefore, any subsequent convictions Victim obtained after 2008 have no effect on her credibility and were appropriately excluded at trial.

The second, third, and fourth Colf factors are either irrelevant or weigh in favor of exclusion. The second factor, the point in time of conviction and the witness's subsequent history, was properly considered by the trial judge as weighing in favor of exclusion. As the trial judge noted, Victim had not even been charged with the offense of possession with intent to distribute cocaine in 2008, let alone been convicted of the offense. Therefore, an offense that occurred after Victim made her accusations against Appellant has no bearing on Victim's credibility when she made the accusation. The trial judge properly weighed this factor in deciding to exclude Victim's conviction. The third Colf factor, the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime, is irrelevant to Victim. Victim was not the accused; therefore, there is no charged crime to compare with a past crime. However, even if the third Colf factor was applicable to this case, there is no similarity between criminal sexual conduct and possession with intent to distribute cocaine. The fourth Colf factor is inapplicable to this case because Victim was not a defendant. Appellant concedes the fourth factor is inapplicable in this case. (Initial Brief of Appellant 7).

In regards to the fifth Colf factor, the centrality of the credibility issue, the trial judge appropriately acknowledged that credibility was "a huge factor." (R. 46, line 8). However, notwithstanding that Victim's credibility was an important factor, the trial judge nonetheless appropriately determined that Victim's prior conviction should be excluded. Appellant argues "As the Court noted in Robinson, '...[W]hen credibility is central to a case, the introduction of prior convictions for impeachment purposes becomes even more legitimate.' 426 S.C. at 606, 828 S.E.2d at 217." (Initial Brief of Appellant 8). However, Appellant ignores the operative word, "prior", from our Supreme Court's opinion in Robinson. Here, the conviction at issue was a subsequent conviction and not a prior one. Indeed, the trial judge recognized as much in his

ruling when he noted “And then to allow this crime that has no relevance or correlation back to an alleged criminal sexual conduct event that happened 11 years ago, I think, falls squarely under 403.” (R. 46, lines 8-11). The trial judge properly concluded, that although Victim’s credibility was an important issue, the fact that her conviction occurred nine years after the allegations made against Appellant weighed in favor of excluding the conviction.

After properly weighing the Colf factors, the trial judge then conducted an analysis of the probative value of the Victim’s conviction under Rule 403 SCRE. The trial judge weighed the probative value of Victim’s conviction and weighed it against the conviction’s prejudicial effect. The trial judge concluded “the probative value is greatly outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice to the witness and to the State and therefore I’m not going to allow it in.” The trial judge acted within his discretion and properly excluded Victim’s conviction.

#### **Harmless Error**

Even if the trial judge erred in excluding Victim’s conviction, any error was entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant. It is inconceivable that Victim’s conviction for possession with intent to distribute cocaine that occurred nine years after she was sexually assaulted by Appellant would have any bearing on the jury’s guilty verdict when Appellant admitted to committing a sexual battery on Victim when she was 14, there were tears and abrasions on Victim’s vagina that were consistent with sexual assault, and Appellant’s semen was located on Victim’s pants. (R. 83-86, 181-82, 221, 231-32). Even if the jury had doubts about Victim’s credibility, Appellant rendered any doubts null and void when he admitted that he committed a sexual battery against a fourteen year old girl. Appellant was guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor by his own admission. Therefore, any error committed by the trial judge was harmless. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to grant Appellant's motion for a speedy trial when Appellant did not assert his right to a speedy trial until approximately ten years after he was arrested and Appellant admitted that he did not suffer any prejudice from the delay.**

Appellant next argues the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's speedy trial motion, because the trial judge considered the fact that there was a victim in Appellant's case when denying Appellant's motion. Appellant's argument is meritless. The trial judge appropriately weighed and considered each of the factors enumerated by the United States Supreme Court in Barker v. Wingo in denying Appellant's motion. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's speedy trial motion because Appellant waited approximately ten years after he was arrested to assert his right to a speedy trial and Appellant admitted that he did not suffer prejudice from the delay. (R. 11-12). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a speedy trial.

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial." U.S. Const. amend. VI. "A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay." Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 371. "The right of a speedy trial is necessarily relative. It is consistent with delays and depends upon circumstances." Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 87 (1905). "A speedy trial does not mean an immediate one; it does not imply undue haste, for the State, too, is entitled to a reasonable time in which to prepare its case; it simply means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay." State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481-82 (2012) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)).

The approach accepted by the United States Supreme Court "is a balancing test, in which the conduct of both the prosecution and the defendant are weighed." Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S.

514, 530 (1972). “We can do little more than identify some of the factors which courts should assess in determining whether a particular defendant has been deprived of his right.” Id. Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court has suggested courts examine the following four factors: “Length of delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant’s assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant.” Id. None of the four aforementioned factors are “either a necessary or sufficient condition to the finding of a deprivation of the right of speedy trial. Rather, they are related factors and must be considered together with such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Wingo 407 U.S. at 533.

Here the trial judge properly considered and weighed the Wingo factors in denying Appellant’s speedy trial motion. The trial judge made the following ruling on Appellant’s speedy trial motion:

The Court: As to your motion for speedy trial, I think that you—that’s a lot closer call quite frankly, but I’m going to deny it as well. The length is totally unreasonable, 11 years. There’s not been assigned a reason for that delay, so the State loses on two of the four issues. At the same time we didn’t have [Appellant] assert his right to a speedy trial until last year, and so after he did assert that right the trial was scheduled. And there’s been no real evidence – there’s been no evidence of prejudice to him caused by the delay. In fact, I made a note in my notes during the course of this trial that [counsel for Appellant] had made the discussion that witness’ memories would fade and they would not be able to remember things as well as they could have earlier, and therefore that’s going to be a problem. But most of the things I heard were their memory – lack of memory was collateral issues, not issues that are made facts to be established in this case, I’m still going to deny you’re your motion because you hadn’t established a prejudice here to my satisfaction, I don’t think there is.

(R. 198, line 20—R. 199, line 14). As the aforementioned ruling demonstrates, the trial judge weighed the four Wingo factors before denying Appellant’s motion.

The first two Wingo factors weigh slightly against the State. The general reason given by the State for the delay in Appellant’s trial was a backlog of cases and the military deployment of the State’s chief investigator. (R. 33-45). However, Appellant concedes “there is no evidence

that the State deliberately attempted to delay trial as a means to hamper the defense.” (Initial Brief of Appellant 13). Appellant’s concession is significant in light of our Supreme Court’s opinion in State v. Hunsberger. In Hunsberger the Supreme Court remarked “The State’s justifications for delay in trying a defendant are weighted differently: (1) a deliberate attempt to delay trial as a means to hamper the defense weighs heavily against the State; (2) negligence or overcrowded dockets weigh less heavily against the State, but are ultimately its responsibility.” Hunsberger 418 S.C. at 346, 794 S.E.2d at 374. Although the length of the delay in Appellant’s case weighs against the State, the reason for the delay weighs less heavily against the State.

The third and fourth Wingo factors weigh against Appellant. As the trial judge noted in his ruling, Appellant did not assert his right to a Speedy trial until November 2018. (R. 23, 198-99). While not dispositive, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted in Hunsberger that this factor weighs heavily against Appellant. The Supreme Court noted “Failure by the accused to assert the right will make it more difficult for the accused to carry his burden of proving that he was denied a speedy trial.” Hunsberger 418 S.C. at 349, 794 S.E.2d at 375. Here, Appellant asserted his right to a speedy trial on November 1, 2018, approximately 10 years after he was arrested for sexually assaulting Victim. (R. 23). Once Appellant asserted his right to a speedy trial, the State called Appellant’s case for trial approximately seven months later. The seven month delay between Appellant’s assertion of his right to a speedy trial and the date of his trial was not unreasonable. Therefore, this factor should weigh against Appellant in this Court’s analysis.

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